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Chairman’s Letter 

 

Dear Shareholders 

Critical Metals aims to supply the European energy storage industry with metals from the Nordic region via urban mining; the recovery of metals 
from industrial by-product stockpiles. We aim to make a positive contribution to the environment and society and provide great returns to 
shareholders. 

VANADIUM RECOVERY PROJECT 

The Vanadium Recovery Project (VRP) is an excellent example of the circular economy in action.  

Working closely with our partner, innovative project development company Neometals Ltd (ASX:NMT) we plan to take a by-product from the steel 
making process (slag) and extract vanadium. This is a sustainable process and is achieved with a zero carbon footprint. 

The VRP will be in Pori, Finland where a lease for the proposed site was signed with the Port of Pori in March 2022. Other important milestones 
achieved during the year include delivery of a Feasibility Study (-10% / +15% accuracy) in June 2022 and grant of an Environmental Permit in 
September 2022. Product off-take and project finance discussions have commenced and subject to successful outcomes we plan to consider a 
Final Investment Decision (FID) mid 2023. 

Vanadium is a critical mineral and following the embargo on trading with Russia there is no vanadium production in Europe. For that reason, the 
VRP represents a strategic project for Finland, Sweden, and Europe. The aim is to produce vanadium that can be used as a raw material in long 
duration energy storage devices such as vanadium redox flow batteries (VRFB). 

For a detailed review please refer to the Review of Operations. 

LITHIUM ION BATTERY RECYCLING PROJECT 

A subsidiary of Critical Metals has the sole and exclusive license to commercialise a lithium ion battery (LiB) recycling technology in Sweden, 
Norway, Denmark, and Finland. The technology was developed by a subsidiary of Neometals Ltd. The technology represents a sustainable process 
for the recovery of valuable constituents from lithium battery production scrap and end-of-life LiBs. 

The growth rate in the number of electric vehicles in Europe is enormous and EV penetration rates in the Nordic region remain high. The LiBs 
powering the EVs contain valuable metals (e.g., cobalt, nickel, copper and lithium) and legislation is being enacted in Europe that requires all LiBs 
to be recycled. 

Critical Metals signed an agreement with ASX listed Hannans Ltd (ASX:HNR) in September 2021 moving the responsibility and cost of 
commercialising the technology to Hannans. Critical Metals has retained an option to fund a 50% interest in each lithium battery recycling plant 
developed by Hannans in the Nordic region.  

For detailed information please refer to the Review of Operations. 

FUNDING 

Critical Metals achieved several important milestones in the last twelve months.  

Our current focus is project finance and considering a FID for the VRP. If a positive FID is made it will be necessary to arrange funding of circa 
US$100 Million for our pro-rata equity share in the VRP and working capital. The Board is considering its options to raise the equity capital. 

For more information on your Company please visit www.criticalmetals.eu, sign up for email alerts and follow Critical Metals on both Twitter and 
LinkedIn. 

If you have any questions, you are welcome to contact me. 

Best regards, 

 
 

Jonathan Murray 
Non-Executive Chairman 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities of the Group during the year were investigating the recovery of high purity vanadium from steel making slag. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

VANADIUM RECOVERY PROJECT (VRP) 

SUMMARY 

The high-grade vanadium feedstocks are located at surface, adjacent to ports and excellent infrastructure in low sovereign risk jurisdictions, 
providing an opportunity to establish vanadium production in the lowest quartile position on the cost-curve, with no mining risk. 

BACKGROUND 

Vanadium is a critical raw material, according to the European Commission. Critical raw materials refer to raw materials that are of great economic 
importance to industry in the EU region, but with high risk to availability (Finnish Ministry of Employment and Economy 2019). 

In 2020 the total global vanadium production by raw material type was 114,000 tonnes comprising primary vanadium ores (18%), vanadium as a 
co-product of steel production (68%) and other sources (14%) (Vanitec Ltd. 2021). China produced the most vanadium (63%) followed by Russia 
(8%), South Africa (8%), Europe (7%) and Brazil (6%).  

By 2025 global vanadium consumption is estimated to reach 170,000 tonnes/year. This rate of consumption will be driven by continued growth in 
global steel production, higher specific vanadium consumption rates (i.e., kilograms of vanadium consumed per metric tonne of steel produced) in 
China the world’s largest steel producer, the development of vanadium redox flow batteries (VRFB) and other energy storage technologies utilising 
vanadium. It is estimated that vanadium demand for energy storage applications will increase from 1,881 tonnes in 2020 to 24,500 tonnes in 2025, 
nearly 15% of global consumption. 

Critical Metals entered into an agreement with the steel producer SSAB, to purchase slag from steel production plants in Oxelösund and Luleå, 
Sweden, and from Raahe, Finland. The VRP aims to extract vanadium from slag and produce high-purity vanadium pentoxide to meet the needs 
of European industry. Under this scenario vanadium would be sourced from slag rather than by mining and processing vanadium-rich ore from the 
earth. In addition, a significant volume of CO2 is used in the VRP, and the project owners aim to source CO2 from emitters before it goes into the 
atmosphere. The VRP is an example of the circular economy in action and is therefore an important project within the European region.  

Tahkoluoto in Pori, Finland was selected as the most suitable location for the project, due to good logistical connections to international markets, 
existing infrastructure, and proximity to markets. 

INTRODUCTION 

Critical Metals has agreements with highly specialised global steel company SSAB and innovative project development company Neometals Ltd 
to recover by-products from the steel making process and produce high-grade vanadium products. SSAB will supply the feedstock and Neometals 
a proprietary process it believes has potential to place this vanadium project within the lowest quartile of production costs globally.  

Neometals Ltd will fund and manage the evaluation activities up to consideration of an investment decision, which, if positive, will lead to a 50:50 
incorporated joint venture. Critical Metals will fund and manage permitting processes, the relationship with SSAB and all activities in Sweden and 
Finland. Neometals will be entitled to a gross revenue royalty on sales of vanadium products. 

The recovery of metals from by-products in an environmentally friendly manner is very important for Europe. Critical Metals aims to recover high 
purity vanadium for use in energy storage solutions and specialty alloys without the need to mine and process vanadium via traditional methods. 
The recovery process will be powered by renewable energy. The agreements signed by Critical Metals, SSAB and Neometals creates a significant 
opportunity to supply the European vanadium market with vanadium “produced” in Europe. 

The aim of the long term (10 year) slag supply agreement is for Critical Metals and Neometals to process slag from the SSAB steel mills. Due to 
supply chain challenges associated with COVID it is unlikely that production will commence prior to 2026. As such aspects of the SSAB agreement 
are being renegotiated. The SSAB slag supply agreement provides Critical Metals with access to at least 2 million tonnes of existing and future 
slag from SSAB steel mills. Critical Metals and SSAB also signed a non-binding letter of intent in July 2022 increasing the slag supply to 3M dry 
metric tonnes. This provides a secure basis for the evaluation of a slag recovery facility capable of processing 300,000 tonnes of slag per annum 
without the need to build a mine and concentrator like existing primary producers. The vanadium grade at the SSAB stockpile in Luleå is 
approximately 4% V2O5 making it one of the highest-grade vanadium feedstock sources in the world. 

Neometals’ proprietary hydrometallurgical process has significant operational, cost and risk advantages over traditional pyrometallurgical (salt-roast) 
process routes. The plant will be located at Tahkoluoto Port, Pori, Finland. 
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ACHIEVEMENTS SINCE 1 JULY 2021 

 Completed pilot plant reporting August 2021 

 Lodged applications for social license September 2021 

 Signed site lease agreement March 2022 

 Signed letter of intent for by-product offtake March 2022 

 Completed Feasibility Study June 2022 

 Signed Letter of Intent for additional slag volumes July 2022 

 Signed mandate with Finnish investment bank August 2022 

 Obtained social license to operate September 2022 

NEXT STEPS 

 Enter amended slag supply agreement late 2022 

 Secure equity capital late 2022 

 Sign binding by-product offtake late 2022 

 Sign vanadium off-take agreements early 2023 

 Secure debt capital early 2023 

 Make positive final investment decision mid 2023 

 Commence construction mid 2023 

 Receive slag late 2023 

 Commence commissioning late 2025  

 Commence production 2026 

For further information please refer to https://criticalmetals.eu/vanadium-recovery.php. 

LiB RECYCLING 

SUMMARY 

Critical Metals holds the sole and exclusive rights to a sustainable process for the recovery of valuable constituents from lithium battery production 
scrap and end-of-life lithium-ion batteries (LIBs) in Sweden, Norway, Denmark, and Finland. The patent pending process is owned by a subsidiary 
of innovative project development company Neometals Ltd.  

In September 2021 Critical Metals signed an agreement with ASX listed Hannans Ltd (ASX:HNR) transferring the rights and obligations for 
commercialising the technology. Critical Metals has retained the right to fund a 50% interest in future lithium battery recycling plants and Hannans 
will fund all activities up to making a final investment decision (FID). 

BACKGROUND 

The recycling process targets the recovery of >90% of valuable materials from consumer electronic batteries (devices with lithium cobalt oxide 
(LCO) cathodes), and nickel‐rich electric vehicle and stationary storage battery chemistries (lithium‐nickel-manganese‐cobalt (NMC) cathodes). The 
technology enables battery cell manufacturers to close the loop, deliver safe, responsible, and cost effective products and eliminate waste. 

INTRODUCTION 

Critical Metals (and its partner Hannans Ltd) aim to deploy the technology in the licensed jurisdictions and derive revenue from the provision of 
recycling services, and sale of recovered cobalt, nickel, lithium, copper, iron, aluminium, manganese into saleable products.  

Sweden, Norway, Denmark, and Finland have experienced high penetration of electric vehicles due to government incentives and a strong 
recycling culture.  
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NEXT STEPS 

The next steps (being funded by Hannans Ltd) include the following: 

 Reach agreement to source LiBs for recycling, late 2022; 

 Complete site selection study, late 2022; 

 Commence applications for social license, early 2023; 

 Order long lead time items for shredding facility, mid 2023; 

 Consider final investment decision, mid 2023; 

 Obtain social license to operate, late 2023; and  

 Commence shredding operations, early 2024. 

For further information please refer to https://criticalmetals.eu/battery-recycling.php. 

MINERAL EXPLORATION 

Critical Metals wholly owned subsidiary companies, Critical Metals Scandinavia AB (CMSAB) and Kiruna Iron AB (KIAB) are registered holders of 
mineral exploration projects. Critical Metals is seeking to divest its mineral exploration projects to focus on the Vanadium Recovery Project. 

PALJASJÄRVI (SWEDEN) 

The Paljasjärvi Project is located 80 km northeast of Kiruna in Norrbotten County. Paljasjärvi has the potential to be a large, long-life (+25 year) 
project. Paljasjärvi (estimated to be 3.5 km long and 30 m thick) is the 2nd most intense magnetic feature in northern Sweden behind Kiirunavaara 
(4km long and 80m thick) which hosts the 2Bt Kiruna iron mine owned by LKAB. Magnetite skarn mineralisation was confirmed at Paljasjärvi by 
historic drilling in 1963 (6 holes). Modern metallurgical test work (DTR) on the historic core confirmed the ore upgrades to +69% Fe (tests went up 
to 72% Fe) with low Si, Al, and P. The next step is to complete exploration drilling to generate a JORC compliant inferred mineral resource and 
establish an environmental and social baseline. 

RAKKURIJOKI (SWEDEN) 

The Rakkurijoki Project is located 5 km south of Kiruna. A previously completed scoping study determined that the Rakkurijoki deposit has the 
potential to supply iron product over a twelve year mine life, at a premium price, to the European and Middle East North African (MENA) markets. 
The study evaluated the practicality of combining a low-cost logistics solution with the least mining, processing, financial and execution risk. The 
next step is to complete a preliminary feasibility study and to expand the PFS to include the Rakkurijärvi Iron deposit, located 2 ½ km south-west 
of Rakkurijoki. In the future, the two deposits collectively will be referred to as the Rakkuri Iron Project. The combination of the two deposits may 
further enhance the economics of the Rakkuri Project with relatively minimal additional capital expenditure. 

DISCOVERY ZONE (SWEDEN) 

The Discovery Zone copper-gold project is located 6km southwest of Kiruna in Norrbotten County. The Discovery Zone mineral resource reported 
in accordance with JORC has the potential to be increased with further exploration and potentially integrated with the nearby Pahtohavare copper 
project owned by Swedish mining company Lovisagruvan AB or the Viscaria copper project owned by Copperstone Resources AB. 

OTHER 

Critical Metals sold its free-carried interest in the Pahtohavare Project (Sweden) and relinquished its Soidinvaara Project (Finland). 

The permits held by the Company is shown below. 

Tenement Number 
Tenement Interest 

% 

 

Tenement Number 
Tenement Interest 

% 

Project: Paljasjärvi  
 

Project: Rakkurijoki  

Paljasjärvi nr 3 100 
 

Rakkurijärvi nr 5 100 

  
 

Rakkurijoki nr 10 100 
 

FUNDING 

The group companies are reliant of equity and loan funds to maintain its operations, and this financial arrangement continued throughout the year. 
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Board of Directors 

The names of the Directors of the Company who have held office during and since the end of the financial year are: 

Mr Jonathan Murray, Non-Executive Chairman  
(Appointed 16 January 2017) 

Mr Murray is a founding Director of Critical Metals Ltd.  

Mr Murray is a partner at law firm Steinepreis Paganin, based in Perth, 
Western Australia. He has significant experience in advising on initial 
public offers and secondary market capital raisings, all forms of 
commercial acquisitions and divestments and providing general 
corporate and strategic advice. Prior to his commencement at 
Steinepreis Paganin in 1997, he practiced law for two years at national 
law firm Clayton Utz.  

Mr Murray graduated from Murdoch University in 1996 with a 
Bachelor of Laws and Commerce (majoring in Accounting). He is also 
a member of FINSIA (formerly the Securities Institute of Australia). 

Mr Murray is Non-Executive Chairman of ASX listed Hannans Ltd and 
Errawarra Resources Ltd. 

Mr Markus Bachmann, Non-Executive Director  
(Appointed 9 August 2016) 

Mr Bachmann is a founding Director of Critical Metals Ltd.  

Mr Markus Bachmann holds a Master (MA) in Business and 
Economics (cum laude) from the University of Berne, Switzerland. 
Markus started his career in the corporate finance department of the 
Credit Suisse Group, before joining SBC Brinson Asset Management 
Emerging Markets team in 1997. There he was assigned responsibility 
for the analysis and portfolio management for the equity markets of 
Greece, Portugal, the Middle East (including Israel) and Africa.  

In 2000 he joined Coronation Fund Managers in Cape Town, South 
Africa, as a senior manager for various retail products and institutional 
mandates. In 2001 he received the S&P Award for the best performing 
large cap equity unit trust in South Africa. Markus co-funded Craton 
Capital in 2003. He is the Manager of the Craton Capital Precious Metal 
Fund and the Global Resources Fund. Under his management, the 
Craton Capital funds received several prestigious industry awards for 
management and performance excellence, including Sauren Golden 
Award, €uro am Sonntag and Mining Journal Outstanding 
Achievement. 

Mr Bachmann is Non-Executive Director of ASX listed Hannans Ltd. 

Mr Darren Townsend, Non-Executive Director  
(Appointed 4 August 2021, resigned 30 May 2022) 

Mr Darren Townsend is a Mining Engineer with 25+ years 
development, mining and corporate experience including managing 
ASX and TSX listed companies. His experience includes developing 
and operating tantalum mines in Australia (Wodgina) and 
Mozambique and the resource drill out and permitting a world class 
niobium and rare earth project in Kenya. Mr Townsend is the Chief 
Development Office of Neometals Ltd. 

 

Mr Damian Hicks, Executive Director  
(Appointed 9 August 2016) 

Mr Hicks is a founding Director of Critical Metals Ltd.  

Mr Hicks holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting and Finance) 
from the University of Western Australia, is admitted as a Barrister and 
Solicitor of the Supreme Court of Western Australia, holds a Graduate 
Diploma in Applied Finance & Investment from FINSIA, a Graduate 
Diploma in Company Secretarial Practice from Governance Institute of 
Australia and is a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors course.  

Mr Hicks is Executive Director of ASX listed Hannans Ltd and 
Chairman of private advisory firm Corporate Board Services. 

Mr Kris Gram, Non-Executive Director  
(Appointed 23 November 2016) 

Mr Gram graduated from the University of St. Andrews in Scotland in 
2000 with a MA in Management. After spending 5 years with 
Capgemini Consulting as a strategy consultant he joined the corporate 
finance team at the Norwegian investment bank Pareto. At Pareto, Mr 
Gram focused on equity- and bond capital raisings, IPO’s and M&A for 
mining companies. As a Partner at Pareto Mr Gram originated and 
managed several large scale international transactions. Mr Gram went 
on to spend 4 years as MD of a family owned investment company 
before joining ProCorp AS, a boutique SMB focused investment bank 
in Oslo, where he was CEO. Mr Gram is currently Partner and 
Investment Director in Vanir Green Industries, an energy transition 
focused investment company. 

Mr Olof Forslund, Non-Executive Director  
(Appointed 23 November 2016, resigned 9 February 2022) 

Mr Forslund is a geophysicist and has extensive international 
experience in the mineral exploration industry, particularly in the 
development and application of geophysical instruments and radar 
technology. His assignments have covered activities in Sweden, 
Japan, South Korea, Germany, Belgium, Italy, France, Canada and the 
USA. Mr Forslund commenced with SGU in 1966 and during the 
period 2003 - 2007 Mr Forslund was Regional Manager of the 
Geological Survey of Sweden' Mineral Resources Information Office 
in Mala, Sweden (www.sgu.se). Mr Forslund was a founding 
shareholder and President of MALÅ GeoScience (www.malags.com) 
between 1994 and 1998. MALÅ is currently the global leader in the 
design and manufacture of Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR) systems. 

The Directors held their position throughout the entire period and up to the date of this report unless stated otherwise. 
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Directors Interest 

At the date of this report the following table sets out the current Directors’ relevant interests in shares and options of Critical Metals Ltd. 

 Ordinary Shares Options 

Current 
Holding 

Net Increase/ 
(decrease)  

Current 
Holding 

Net Increase/ 
(decrease)  

J Murray 671,501 – 1,150,000 – 

D Hicks 273,358 – – – 

M Bachmann 1,296,357 – 1,150,000 – 

K Gram 1,171,977 – 1,150,000 – 

D Townsend (i) 40,000 – 450,000 – 

O Forslund (ii) 171,977 – 1,150,000 – 
(i) Mr Townsend was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 4 August 2021 and resigned on 30 May 2022. This reflects his holdings on resignation. 
(ii) Mr Forslund resigned on 9 February 2022. This reflects his holdings on resignation.  

Directors Meetings 

The following tables set information in relation to Board meetings held and written resolution passed during the financial year.  

Board Member 
Board Meetings held 

while Director Attended 
Written Resolutions 

Passed Total 

J Murray 4 4 4 8 

D Hicks 4 4 5 9 

M Bachmann 4 4 5 9 

K Gram 4 4 5 9 

D Townsend (i) 4 3 5 8 

O Forslund (ii) 2 1 4 5 
(iii) Mr Townsend was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 4 August 2021 and resigned on 30 May 2022. 
(iv) Mr Forslund resigned on 9 February 2022. This reflects his holdings on resignation.  
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Remuneration Report (Unaudited) 

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 

A. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

B. Details of remuneration 

C. Service agreements 

D. Share-based compensation 

E. Directors’ equity holdings 

F. Additional information 

The information provided in this remuneration report has not been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

A. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

The whole Board form the Remuneration Committee. The remuneration policy has been designed to align director and executive objectives with 
shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component with the flexibility to offer specific long term incentives based 
on key performance areas affecting the Company’s financial results. The Board believes the remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in 
its ability to attract and retain the best directors and executives to manage the Company. 

The Non-Executive Directors of the Company have not entered into employment contracts with the Company. It is envisaged that subject to 
completion of key milestones, including future capital raisings, the Directors will if necessary seek shareholder approval for individual Director’s 
employment contract that will reflect past and future services to the Company. 

B. Details of remuneration 

Details of the 2022 and 2021 remuneration of the directors and key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures) 
of Critical Metals Ltd are set out in the following table. 

The key management personnel of Critical Metals Ltd are the directors as listed on page 6. 

 

Short Term Post-employment Equity 

Other 
benefits 

 

Salary  
& fees (i) Bonus(i) 

Other 
benefits 

Super-
annuation 

Pre-
scribed 

benefits Shares 
Options 

(ii) Total 
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

2022          

Directors          

J Murray (iii) 25,000 – – – – – 18,546 1,894 45,440 

D Hicks (iii) 275,000 – – – – – 176,626 1,894 453,520 

M Bachmann (iii) 25,000 – – – – – 18,546 1,894 45,440 

K Gram (iii) 25,000 – – – – – 18,546 1,894 45,440 

D Townsend (iii)(iv) 20,833 – – – – – 18,546 1,733 41,112 

O Forslund (iii) (iv) 16,667 – – – – – 18,546 1,162 36,375 

Total 387,500 – – – – – 269,356 10,471 667,327 

2021          

Directors          

J Murray 20,000 – – – – – 12,108 – 32,108 

D Hicks 235,425 – – – – – 121,082 – 356,507 

M Bachmann 20,000 – – – – – 12,108 – 32,108 

K Gram 20,000 – – – – – 12,108 – 32,108 

O Forslund 20,000 – – – – – 12,108 – 32,108 

Total 315,425 – – – – – 169,514 – 484,939 
(i) The amounts for 2021 and 2022 have been accrued by the Non-Executive Chairman, Non-Executive Directors and Executive Director (together Board). In 2021, the Directors 

obtained shareholders’ approval for the issue of shares equivalent to $607,817 in part payment of the unpaid accrued fees. A total of $594,856 remained owing at 30 June 2022. 
(ii) These amounts are accounting valuations of options granted as remuneration and are not cash payments. 
(iii) The Board agreed to defer their directors’ fee from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 to assist the Company with managing its cash flow requirements.  
(iv) Mr Forslund and Mr Townsend resigned on 9 February 2022 and 30 May 2022 respectively. 
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C. Service agreements 

Executive Director 

Mr Hicks was appointed as a founding Director on 9 August 2016. 

Mr Hicks entered into a consultancy services agreement to perform the role of Executive Director on 1 October 2016 and was converted to an 
executive services agreement on 1 March 2022. The agreement provided for remuneration of $250,000 (exclusive of statutory superannuation 
entitlements), reimbursement of work related expenses, an annual remuneration review of at least 5% and provision for a performance based 
bonus as determined by the Board. The Company can terminate the arrangement with six (6) months written notice and payment of outstanding 
salary and entitlements. Mr Hicks can terminate the arrangement with three (3) months written notice.  

In an effort to assist the Company with managing its cash flow, Mr Hicks elected not to receive any cash for his salary during the year (2021: Nil 
cash) and agreed to accrue $275,000 inclusive of his statutory superannuation entitlements (2021: $461,150 accrued) in salary entitlements. The 
total deferred fees is included in note 13.  

As at the date of this report, Mr Hicks continues to accrue his salary and does not receive cash payments for his services. 

Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors 

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are formalised in service agreements. 
The Non-Executive Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are employed on a rolling basis with no specified fixed terms. They are remunerated 
on a fixed remuneration basis, exclusive of superannuation.  

The Board resolved to increased fees to $25,000 per annum from 1 January 2021. 

In an effort to assist the Company with managing its cash flow the non-executive directors have accrued their fees from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 
2022. The total deferred fees is included in note 13. The Directors obtained shareholders’ approval for the issue of shares in part payment of their 
unpaid fees at the 2021 AGM. 

As at the date of this report, the non-executive directors continue to accrue their fees and do not receive cash payments for their services.  

D. Share-based compensation 

Options can be issued to directors and executives as part of their remuneration. The options are not based on performance criteria, but are issued 
to align the interests of directors, executives and shareholders.  

During the year, Critical Metals shareholders approved the issue of 7,450,000 options (2021: 3,020,000) to the Directors, company secretary and 
directors of subsidiaries.  

As at 30 June 2022 there were 5,050,000 options (2021: 2,800,000) held by Directors. Refer to the next section for further details of the options 
outstanding. 

E. Directors’ equity holdings 

(a) Fully paid ordinary shares of Critical Metals Ltd 

Key management personnel 

Balance at 
beginning  

of year 
Granted as 

remuneration 

Received on 
exercise of 

options 
Net other 

change 
Balance at 

30 June 

No. No. No. No. No. 

2022      

J Murray 579,313 92,188 – – 671,501 

D Hicks (i) 273,358 1,152,875 – (1,152,875) 273,358 

M Bachmann 1,204,169 92,188 – – 1,296,357 

K Gram 1,080,832 91,145 – – 1,171,977 

O Forslund(ii) 80,832 91,145 – – 171,977 

D Townsend(ii)(iii) – – – 40,000 40,000 

 3,218,504 1,519,541 – (1,112,875) 3,625,170 
(i) As approved by shareholders at the AGM 2021, Mr Hicks received 1,152,875 fully paid ordinary shares (2021: 1,100,000) during the year ended 30 June 2022. At the 

direction of Mr Hicks, the shares were issued to Acacia Investments Pty Ltd (Acacia). Mr Hicks is neither a director, shareholder or beneficiary of Acacia or any trust 
where Acacia is a trustee. 

(ii) Mr Townsend movement reflects his holdings on appointment as a director of Company. 
(iii) Mr Forslund and Mr Townsend resigned on 9 February 2022 and 30 May 2022 respectively. 

  



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

10 | CRITICAL METALS LTD 2022 ANNUAL REPORT 

E. Directors’ equity holdings (cont’d) 

Key management personnel 

Balance at 
beginning  

of year 
Granted as 

remuneration 

Received on 
exercise of 

options 
Net other 

change 
Balance at 

30 June 

No. No. No. No. No. 

2021      

J Murray 496,813 82,500 – – 579,313 

D Hicks 273,358 1,100,000 – (1,100,000) 273,358 

M Bachmann 1,121,669 82,500 – – 1,204,169 

K Gram 1,000,000 80,832 – – 1,080,832 

O Forslund – 80,832 – – 80,832 

 2,891,840 1,426,664 – (1,100,000) 3,218,504 

(b) Options of Critical Metals Ltd 

Key management 
personnel 

Balance at 
beginning  

of year 

Granted as 
remune-

ration 
Options 

exercised 
Net other 
changes 

Balance at 
30 June Exercisable 

Not exerci-
sable 

No. No. No. No. No. No. No. 

2022        

J Murray 700,000 450,000 – – 1,150,000 700,000 450,000 

D Hicks (i) – 4,000,000 – (4,000,000) – – 4,000,000 

M Bachmann 700,000 450,000 – – 1,150,000 700,000 450,000 

K Gram 700,000 450,000 – – 1,150,000 700,000 450,000 

O Forslund (ii) 700,000 450,000 – – 1,150,000 700,000 450,000 

D Townsend (ii) – 450,000 – – 450,000 – 450,000 

 2,800,000 6,250,000 – (4,000,000) 5,050,000 2,800,000 6,250,000 

2021        

J Murray 500,000 200,000 – – 700,000 700,000 – 

D Hicks (i) – 2,000,000 – (2,000,000) – 2,000,000 – 

M Bachmann 500,000 200,000 – – 700,000 700,000 – 

K Gram 500,000 200,000 – – 700,000 700,000 – 

O Forslund 500,000 200,000 – – 700,000 700,000 – 

 2,000,000 2,800,000 – (2,000,000) 2,800,000 4,800,000 – 

(i) As approved by shareholders at the AGM 2021, Mr Hicks received 4,000,000 unlisted options during the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: 2,000,000). At the direction 
of Mr Hicks, the options were issued to Acacia. Mr Hicks is neither a director, shareholder or beneficiary of Acacia or any trust where Acacia is a trustee. 

(ii) Mr Forslund and Mr Townsend resigned on 9 February 2022 and 30 May 2022 respectively. 
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F. Additional information 

Performance income as a proportion of total compensation 

No performance based bonuses have been paid to directors or executives during the financial year. 

Other transactions and balances with KMP and their related parties 

Directors transactions 

Corporate Board Services Pty Ltd (CBS), of which Mr Damian Hicks is a director, provided financial and compliance services amounting to $118,339 
(2021: $71,643) to the Group during the year. At 30 June 2022 $134,067 was owed to CBS (2021: $11,931).  

Steinepreis Paganin, of which Mr Jonathan Murray is a partner, provided legal services amounting to $62,994 (2021: $4,301) to the Group during 
the year. At 30 June 2022 $15,180 was owed to Steinepreis Paganin (2021: $2,063).  

Transaction with Hannans Ltd (Hannans) 

Mr Damian Hicks, Mr Jonathan Murray and Mr Markus Bachmann are the Directors of Hannans Ltd (Hannans). On 7 October 2021, shareholders 
approved the Company entering into an agreement with Hannans in connection with the commercialisation of licenced technology. 

Neometals Limited (ASX: NMT) (Neometals) is the largest shareholder in the Company (19.05%). ACN 630 589 507 Pty Ltd (ACN 630), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Neometals, has developed a proprietary technology to safely recover several metals from spent and off-specification lithium-
ion batteries (Technology). The Technology offers a unique and sustainable method for recovering valuable lithium, nickel, cobalt and other materials 
from off-specification and end-of-life electric vehicle and consumer electronic lithium-ion batteries. The Technology enables recovered metals to be 
refined and converted into a form that can be reused in the battery supply chain. The Technology has not been commercialised by Neometals or 
its partners thus far, but excellent progress is being made in that regard. 

The Company entered into an agreement with ACN 630 on 8 March 2019 whereby ACN 630 granted the Group an exclusive licence (Technology 
Licence) to commercialise the Technology in Sweden, Norway, Denmark, and Finland (Territory), for an initial term of 25 years from the date of the 
agreement (Licence Agreement). The Licence enables the Group to commercialise the Technology within the Territory and derive revenue from 
the sale of recovered nickel, cobalt, lithium, copper, iron, aluminium, manganese recovered from off-specification and end-of-life batteries. ACN 
630 may terminate the Licence Agreement if the Company does not meet any of the following performance hurdles by the specified date. 

On 9 September 2021, the Company executed a Memorandum of Understanding with the Hannans to commercialise the Licence. It is proposed 
that, subject to funding certain commercialisation activities and making certain decisions within agreed timeframes, Hannans will be entitled to a 
50% equity interest in each lithium-ion battery recycling plant developed by Hannans and the Company. 

Hannans recharged for reimbursements on joint operating and travel expenses amounting to $10,850 (2021: nil) to the Group during the year. At 
30 June 2022 $1,378 was owed to Hannans (2021: $2,474). 

The Company recharged Hannans for reimbursements on joint operating and travel expenses amounting to $8,884 (2021: $2,256) by the Group 
during the year. There was no amount owing by Hannans at 30 June 2022. 

Refer to note 26(d) for further details. 

End of Remuneration Report (Unaudited) 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 

The following summarises the key financial data: 

 2022 2021 

Closing cash and cash equivalent as at 30 June $341,782 $393,355 

Expensed project and exploration expenditure relates to  

 Vanadium Recycling Project; and  

 non-JORC compliant mineral resource projects.  

$818,402 $749,835 

Capitalised exploration expenditure relates to: 

 JORC compliant mineral resource projects. 

$6,176 $5,056 

Impairment of capitalised exploration expenditure Nil Nil 

Net administration expenditure included the following: $1,284,456 $740,294 

 employment expenses $452,832 $378,426 

 consultants’ expenses $288,041 $134,430 

Operating loss after income tax $2,102,768 $1,489,796 
 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

The corporate structure of Critical Metals Ltd group at the date of this report is as follows:  

 

Note: 
1. An Australian registered company with 2,063 shareholders.  
2. An Australian registered company that is party to the LiB Recycling Agreement signed with Neometals Ltd (ASX:NMT) and a letter of understanding signed by Primobius on 13 

April 2021. 
3. Registered holder of the permits comprising the Pahtohavare copper-gold project and holder of the rights and obligations associated with the Lovisagruvan AB joint venture 

agreement. The Pahtohavare project was sold to Lovisagruvan AB in July 2022. 
4. Registered holder of the permits comprising the Paljasjärvi and Rakkuri Iron Projects.  
5. Holder of the rights to the SSAB Slag Purchase Agreement and the Neometals Co-Operation Agreement. 
6. On 8 June 2022 the branch was deregistered. 
7. Swedish registered operating company for vanadium recovery project. 
8. Finnish registered operating company for vanadium recovery project. 

  

CRITICAL METALS LTD1

LIB RECYCLING PTY LTD2 SCANDINAVIAN RESOURCES PTY 
LTD

CRITICAL METALS SCANDINAVIA AB3

CRITICAL METALS SCANDINAVIA AB 
FILIAL I FINLAND6

KIRUNA IRON AB4 RECYCLING INDUSTRIES 
SCANDINAVIA AB5

CMS GROUP SCANDINAVIA AB7 VANADIUM RECOVERY 
PROJECT OY8

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 
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COMPLIANCE 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also opportunities, 
are identified on a timely basis and that activities are aligned with the 
risks and opportunities identified by the Board. 

The Company believes that it is crucial for all Board members to be 
part of this process, and as such the Board has not established a 
separate risk management committee. 

The Board has several mechanisms in place to ensure management’s 
objectives and activities are aligned by the Board. These include the 
Board approval of a strategic plan, which encompasses strategy 
statements designed to meet stakeholders needs and manage 
business risk and implementation of Board approved operating plans 
and Board monitoring of the progress against budgets. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 

The following matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 June 
2022 that may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future 
financial years: 

(a) On 19 July 2022 the Group sold its 80% interest in Pahtohavare 
Project to Lovisagruvan AB (LOV) for SEK 3.5 million which 
consists of SEK 2 million cash and loan forgiveness of SEK 1.5 
million. The joint venture between the Group and LOVI was 
concluded as part of the transaction. Refer to note 10 for more 
information. 

(b) On 25 July 2022 the Company provided a loan facility of 
$120,000 to Mr Damian Hicks, Executive Director at an interest 
rate of 4.6% per annum repayable after the Company pays all 
accrued director fees, salary and bonus payments (if any) owing 
to Mr Hicks. 

(c) On 13 October 2022, the repayment date for the loan with 
Hannans Ltd was extended to 31 December 2023. 

(d) On 26 October 2022, the repayment date for the loan with 
Equity & Royalty Investments Ltd was extended to 31 
December 2023. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 

Subject to securing the required capital, the Group expects to maintain 
the present status and level of operations and hence there are no likely 
developments in the Group’s operations. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 

The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect 
to its vanadium recycling project. The Directors of the Group are not 
aware of any breach of environmental legislation for the year under 
review. 

OPTIONS 

As at the date of this report, there were 16,970,000 options on issue 
to purchase ordinary shares at a range of exercise prices (16,970,000 
at reporting date). Refer to the remuneration report and note 7 for 
further details of the options. 

Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to 
participate in any share issue of the Company or any related body 
corporate. 

INDEMNIFYING OFFICERS OR AUDITOR 

During and since the end of the financial year the Company has paid 
premiums insuring all Directors of Critical Metals Ltd against costs 
incurred in defending conduct involving: 

(a) a wilful breach of duty, and 

(b) a contravention of sections 182 or 183 of the Corporations 
Act 2001, 

as permitted by section 199B of the Corporations Act 2001. 

The total amount of insurance contract premiums paid was $10,471. 

DIVIDENDS 

No dividends were paid or declared during the financial year and no 
recommendation for payment of dividends has been made. 

NON–AUDIT SERVICES 

During the year, neither Stantons International or any of its associated 
entities provided any non–audit services to the Group. 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY 

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Group or intervene in any proceedings to which the 
Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of 
the Group for all or any part of those proceedings. 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

The auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 
307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is included on page 14. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made 
pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the Directors 

 
Damian Hicks 
Executive Director 
Perth, Australia this 27th day of October 2022 
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The Directors declare that: 

(a) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable;  

(b) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including 
compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2 and giving a true 
and fair view of the financial position and performance of the consolidated entity for the financial period ended on that date; 

(c) the remuneration disclosures set out in the directors’ report comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and 
the Corporations Act and Regulations 2001; and 

(d) the Directors have been given the declarations required by s 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2022. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
On behalf of the Directors 

 
Damian Hicks 
Executive Director 
Perth, Australia this 27th day of October 2022
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Note  
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

Interest 4(a)  90 175 

Other income 4(b)  – 158 

     

Employee expense 4(c)  (452,832) (378,426) 

Share-based payments   (318,816) (182,834) 

Depreciation expense   (991) (248) 

Consultants expenses   (288,041) (134,430) 

Interest expenses   (90,011) (10) 

Occupancy expenses   (38,346) (3,881) 

Marketing expenses   (3,319) (7,557) 

Vanadium recovery expenses   (782,800) (729,739) 

Exploration and evaluation expenses   (35,602) (20,096) 

Other expenses    (92,100) (32,908) 

(Loss) from continuing operations  
before income tax benefit   

(2,102,768) (1,489,796) 

Income tax benefit 5  – – 

(Loss) from continuing operations attributable  
to members of the parent entity    

(2,102,768) (1,489,796) 

     

Other comprehensive profit/(loss) for the period     

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss     

Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations   7,160 (4,812) 

Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss   7,160 (4,812) 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss   – – 

Total other comprehensive profit/(loss) for the period   7,160 (4,812) 

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the period   (2,095,608) (1,494,608) 

     

Net (loss) attributable to the parent entity   (2,102,768) (1,489,796) 

Total comprehensive loss attributable to the parent entity   (2,095,608) (1,494,608) 

     

(Loss) per share:     

Basic (cents per share) 21  (5.19) (3.98) 
 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements. 
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Note  
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 28  341,782 393,355 

Trade and other receivables 9  74,909 74,123 

   416,691 467,478 

Assets classified as held for sale 10  261,602 – 

Total current assets   678,293 467,478 

     

Non–current assets     

Property, plant and equipment 11  1,571 2,716 

Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 12  73,994 363,043 

Right-of-use asset 16  106,195 – 

Total non–current assets   181,760 365,759 

TOTAL ASSETS   860,053 833,237 

     

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 13  996,282 1,015,533 

Provisions 14  8,204 8,582 

Borrowings 15  1,111,424 – 

Lease liability 16  25,851 – 

Other financial liabilities 17  2,052 235,914 

   2,143,813 1,260,029 

Liabilities directly associated with asset classified as held for sale 10  212,422 – 

Total current liabilities   2,356,235 1,260,029 

     

Non–current liabilities     

Lease liability 16  59,690 – 

Other financial liabilities 17  1 1 

Total non–current liabilities   59,691 1 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   2,415,926 1,260,030 

NET ASSETS/(DEFICIT)   (1,555,873) (426,793) 

     

Equity     

Issued capital 18  5,054,972 4,407,260 

Reserves 19  903,759 577,783 

Accumulated losses 20  (7,514,604) (5,411,836) 

TOTAL EQUITY/(DEFICIT)   (1,555,873) (426,793) 
 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements. 
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 Attributable to equity holders 

For the period ended  
30 June 2022 

Ordinary  
Shares 

$ 

Option 
Reserves 

$ 

Foreign Currency 
Translation 
Reserves 

$ 

Accumulated 
Losses 

$ 

Total 
Equity 

$ 

Balance as at 1 July 2021 4,407,260 568,985 8,798 (5,411,836) (426,793) 

      

Total comprehensive income      

Loss for the period – – – (2,102,768) (2,102,768) 

Other comprehensive  
profit for the period – – 7,160 – 7,160 

Total comprehensive  
profit/(loss) for the period – – 7,160 (2,102,768) (2,095,608) 

Transactions with owners  
recorded direct to equity      

Issue of shares 647,712 – – – 647,712 

Share based payments – 318,816 – – 318,816 

Total transactions with owners 647,712 318,816 – – 966,528 

Balance as at 30 June 2022 5,054,972 887,801 15,958 (7,514,604) (1,555,873) 
 

 Attributable to equity holders 

For the period ended  
30 June 2021 

Ordinary  
Shares 

$ 

Option 
Reserves 

$ 

Foreign Currency 
Translation 
Reserves 

$ 

Accumulated 
Losses 

$ 

Total 
Equity 

$ 

Balance as at 1 July 2020 3,267,572 425,686 13,610 (3,961,575) (254,707) 

      

Total comprehensive income      

Loss for the period – – – (1,489,796) (1,489,796) 

Other comprehensive  
profit for the period – – (4,812) – (4,812) 

Total comprehensive  
profit/(loss) for the period – – (4,812) (1,489,796) (1,494,608) 

Transactions with owners  
recorded direct to equity   

 
  

Issue of shares 1,139,688 – – – 1,139,688 

Share based payments – 182,834 – – 182,834 

Lapse of options – (39,535) – 39,535 – 

Share issue costs  – – – – – 

Total transactions with owners 1,139,688 143,299 – 39,535 1,322,522 

Balance as at 30 June 2021 4,407,260 568,985 8,798 (5,411,836) (426,793) 
 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements. 
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Note  
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Payments for exploration and vanadium recovery   (745,919) (634,979) 

Payments to suppliers and employees   (285,423) (304,631) 

Interest received   90 175 

Interest paid   (28,587) (10) 

Net cash (used in) operating activities 28(b)  (1,059,839) (939,445) 

     

Cash flows from investing activities     

Payments for exploration and evaluation   (6,176) (5,056) 

Payment for property, plant and equipment   – (2,963) 

Net cash (used in) investing activities   (6,176) (8,019) 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceeds from issues of equity securities   – 760,000 

Proceeds from borrowings   1,050,000 – 

Repayment of lease liabilities   (48,304) – 

Net cash provided by financing activities   1,001,696 760,000 

     

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (64,319) (187,464) 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period   393,355 580,150 

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held   12,746 669 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period 28(a)  341,782 393,355 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements. 
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1. General Information 

Critical Metals Ltd (the Company) is an unlisted public company, domiciled and incorporated in Australia. 

The Group’s registered office and its principal place of business are as follows: 

Registered office   Principal place of business 

Level 12, 197 St Georges Tc  Level 12, 197 St Georges Tc 

Perth WA 6000  Perth WA 6000 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has 
been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and complies with other 
requirements of the law. The financial report includes the financial 
statements of the consolidated entity (Group) comprising the 
Company, Scandinavian Resources Pty Ltd, LiB Recycling Pty Ltd, 
Critical Metals Scandinavia AB, Kiruna Iron AB, Recycling Industries 
Scandinavia AB, CMS Group Scandinavia AB, Critical Metals 
Scandinavia AB Filial i Finland and Vanadium Recovery Project OY. 
Separate financial statements for Critical Metals Ltd as an individual 
entity are no longer presented as the consequence of a change to 
the Corporations Act 2001. 

Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (A–IFRS). Compliance 
with the A–IFRS ensures that the consolidated and parent financial 
statements and notes of the Group and parent entity comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors 
on 26 October 2022. 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the 
financial report are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, except as noted 
below. 

(a) Basis of preparation 

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and 
is based on historical cost, except for certain financial assets 
and liabilities which are carried at fair value. Cost is based on 
the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for 
assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless 
otherwise noted. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in 
preparing the financial statements for the period ended 
30 June 2022. 

Going concern basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial report has been prepared on the 
going concern basis that contemplates the continuity of normal 
business activities and the realisation and extinguishment of 
liabilities in the ordinary courses of business. 

For the period ended 30 June 2022 the Group incurred a loss 
of $2,102,768 (2021: loss $1,489,796) and had a working 
capital deficit of $1,677,942 (2021: deficit $792,551). Based 
upon the Group’s existing cash resources of $341,782 (2021: 
$$393,355) as at 30 June 2022, the ability to modify 
expenditure outlays if required, and the Directors’ confidence 
of sourcing additional funds, the Directors consider there are 
reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to 
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable, and 

 

(a) Basis of preparation (cont’d) 

therefore the going concern basis of preparation is considered 
to be appropriate for the Group’s financial report. 

The Board of Directors is aware, having prepared a cashflow 
forecast, of the Group’s working capital requirements and the 
Group need to have sufficient funds to continue minimal 
operations for the next 12 months.  

Notwithstanding the above matters, the Directors are satisfied 
they will be able to raise additional working capital as required 
and thus it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on 
a going concern basis. The Directors are satisfied that they will 
be able to raise additional funds by either an equity raising 
and/or obtain additional loan to fund ongoing commitments 
and for working capital. 

In the event that the Group is not able to continue as a going 
concern, it may be required to realise assets and extinguish 
liabilities other than in the normal course of business and at 
amounts different to those stated in its financial report. 

(b) New Accounting Standards for Application in the  
Current Financial Year and Future Periods 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the 
financial statements are consistent with those followed in the 
preparation of the Company’s annual financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2021 except for the new accounting 
standards stated below.  

New and Amended Standards Adopted by the Group 

The Group has considered the implications of new and 
amended Accounting Standards which have become 
applicable for the current financial reporting period. 

Initial adoption of AASB 2021-3:  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
– COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 

The Group has applied AASB 2021-3: Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – COVID-19-Related Rent 
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 this reporting period. 

The amendment amends AASB 16 to extend by one year, the 
application of the practical expedient added to AASB 16 by 
AASB 2020-4: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions. The 
practical expedient permits lessees not to assess whether rent 
concessions that occur as a direct consequence of the COVID-
19 pandemic and meet specified conditions are lease 
modifications and instead, to account for those rent 
concessions as if they were not lease modifications.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(b) New Accounting Standards for Application in the  
Current Financial Year and Future Periods (cont’d) 

The amendment has not had a material impact on the 
Group’s financial statements. 

Initial adoption of AASB 2020-8:  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
– Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 

The Group has applied AASB 2020-8 which amends various 
standards to help listed entities to provide financial statement 
users with useful information about the effects of the interest 
rate benchmark reform on those entities’ financial 
statements. As a result of these amendments, an entity: 

 will not have to derecognise or adjust the carrying 
amount of financial statements for changes required by 
the reform, but will instead update the effective interest 
rate to reflect the change to the alternative benchmark 
rate; 

 will not have to discontinue its hedge accounting solely 
because it makes changes required by the reform, if the 
hedge meets other hedge accounting criteria; and 

 will be required to disclose information about new risks 
arising from the reform and how it manages the transition 
to alternative benchmark rates. 

The amendment has not had a material impact on the 
Group’s financials. 

New and Amended Accounting Policies  
Not Yet Adopted by the Group 

AASB 2020-1:  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
– Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

The amendment amends AASB 101 to clarify whether a 
liability should be presented as current or non-current. The 
Group plans on adopting the amendment for the reporting 
period ending 30 June 2024. The amendment is not expected 
to have a material impact on the financial statements once 
adopted. 

AASB 2020-3:  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
– Annual Improvements 2018-2020 and Other Amendments 

AASB 2020-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Annual Improvements 2018-2020 and Other 
Amendments is an omnibus standard that amends AASB 1, 
AASB 3, AASB 9, AASB 116, AASB 137 and AASB 141. The 
Group plans on adopting the amendment for the reporting 
period ending 30 June 2023. The impact of the initial 
application is not yet known. 

 

 

(b) New Accounting Standards for Application in the  
Current Financial Year and Future Periods (cont’d) 

AASB 2021-2:  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
– Disclosure of Accounting Policies and  
Definition of Accounting Estimates 

The amendment amends AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 108, 
AASB 134 and AASB Practice Statement 2. These 
amendments arise from the issuance by the IASB of the 
following International Financial Reporting Standards: 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and 
IFRS Practice Statement 2) and Definition of Accounting 
Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8). 

The Group plans on adopting the amendment for the 
reporting period ending 30 June 2024. The impact of the initial 
application is not yet known. 

AASB 2021-5:  
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
– Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities  
arising from a Single Transaction 

The amendment amends the initial recognition exemption in 
AASB 112: Income Taxes such that it is not applicable to 
leases and decommissioning obligations – transactions for 
which companies recognise both an asset and liability and that 
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 
differences. The Group plans on adopting the amendment for 
the reporting period ending 30 June 2024. The impact of the 
initial application is not yet known. 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in 
banks and investments in money market instruments, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. 

(d) Employee benefits 

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in 
respect of wages and salaries and annual leave when it is 
probable that settlement will be required and they are capable 
of being measured reliably. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected 
to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal 
values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the 
time of settlement. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which 
are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured 
as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to 
be made by the entity in respect of services provided by 
employees up to reporting date. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(e) Financial instruments 

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial instrument. Financial instruments (except for trade 
receivables) are measured initially at fair value adjusted by 
transactions costs, except for those carried “at fair value 
through profit or loss”, in which case transaction costs are 
expensed to profit or loss. Where available, quoted prices in an 
active market are used to determine the fair value. In other 
circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. Subsequent 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
described below.  

Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price 
if the receivables do not contain a significant financing 
component in accordance with AASB 15. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights 
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the 
financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are 
transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is 
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets  

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a 
significant financing component and are measured at the 
transaction price in accordance with AASB 15, all financial 
assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for 
transaction costs (where applicable). 

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets 
other than those designated and effective as hedging 
instruments, are classified into the following categories upon 
initial recognition:  

 amortised cost;  
 fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); 

and  
 fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).  

Classifications are determined by both:  

 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial 
assets; and  

 the entities business model for managing the financial 
asset.  

Financial assets at amortised cost  

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets 
meet the following conditions (and are not designated as 
FVPL):  

 they are held within a business model whose objective is 
to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash 
flows; and  

 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitted 
where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s 
cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables 
fall into this category of financial instruments. 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI) 

The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through 
OCI if both of the following conditions are met: 

 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding; 
and 

 the financial asset is held within a business model with 
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash 
flows and selling the financial asset. 

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, 
foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or 
reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and 
computed in the same manner as for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes 
are recognised in OCI. 

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify 
irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments 
designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the 
definition of equity under AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and are not held for trading.  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)  
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include 
financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated 
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or 
financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair 
value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they 
are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the 
near term.  

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, and where 
applicable, adjusted for transaction costs, as financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, 
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method except for derivatives 
and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried 
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in 
profit or loss. 

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, gains and losses 
arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(e) Financial instruments (cont’d) 

Impairment  
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected 
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at 
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology 
applied depends on whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group applies 
the simplified approach permitted by AASB, which requires 
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial 
recognition of the receivables. 

(f) Financial instruments issued by the Company 

Debt and equity instruments 
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or 
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement. 

Transaction costs on the issue of equity instruments 
Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are 
recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds of 
the equity instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction 
costs are the costs that are incurred directly in connection with 
the issue of those equity instruments and which would not 
have been incurred had those instruments not been issued. 

(g) Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 
i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from 

the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised 
inclusive of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables. 

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross 
basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 

(h) Impairment of assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying 
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the 
asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from 
other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash–generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 

 

(h) Impairment of assets (cont’d) 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible 
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may 
be impaired. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre–tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have 
not been adjusted. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash–generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash–
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant 
asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

(i) Tax 

Current tax 
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income 
taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or 
tax loss for the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
reporting date. Current tax for current and prior periods is 
recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid 
(or refundable). 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the statement of financial 
position liability method in respect of temporary differences 
arising from differences between the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the 
corresponding tax base of those items. 

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will 
be available against which deductible temporary differences or 
unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a 
business combination) which affects neither taxable income 
nor accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not 
recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising 
from goodwill. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, branches, 
associates and joint ventures except where the entity is able to 
control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences associated with these investments and 
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to 
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(i) Tax (cont’d) 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the asset and 
liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax 
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the entity expects, at the 
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a 
net basis. 

Current and deferred tax for the period 
Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or 
income in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, except when it relates to items 
credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the 
deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it 
arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, in 
which case it is taken into account in the determination of 
goodwill or excess. 

Tax consolidation 
Legislation to allow groups, comprising a parent entity and its 
Australian resident wholly owned entities, to elect to 
consolidate and be treated as a single entity for income tax 
purposes was substantively enacted on 21 October 2002. The 
Company and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries 
have implemented the tax consolidation legislation in August 
2016 with Critical Metals Ltd as the head entity. 

(j) Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is expensed 
immediately to the profit and loss where the applicable area of 
interest does not contain a JORC compliant mineral resource. 
Where the area of interest contains a JORC compliant mineral 
resource exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised. 
These costs are carried forward only if they relate to an area of 
interest for which rights of tenure are current and in respect of 
which: 
i. such costs are expected to be recouped through 

successful development and exploitation or from sale of 
the area; or 

ii. exploration and evaluation activities in the area have not, at 
balance date, reached a stage which permits a reasonable 
assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically 
recoverable reserves, and active operations in, or relating 
to, the area are continuing. 

Accumulated costs in respect of areas of interest which are 
abandoned are written off in full against profit or loss in the year 
in which the decision to abandon the area is made. A regular 
review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the 
appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation 
to that area of interest. 

Notwithstanding the fact that a decision not to abandon an area 
of interest has been made, based on the above, the exploration 
and evaluation expenditure in relation to an area may still be 
written off if considered appropriate to do so. 

 

(k) Joint arrangements 

Interests in Joint Arrangements 
Joint arrangements represent the contractual sharing of control 
between parties in a business venture where unanimous 
decisions about relevant activities are required. 

Separate joint venture entities providing joint venturers with an 
interest to net assets are classified as a "joint venture" and 
accounted for using the equity method. 

Joint venture operations 
Joint venture operations represent arrangements whereby 
joint operators maintain direct interests in each asset and 
exposure to each liability of the arrangement. The Group's 
interests in the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of joint 
operations are included in the respective line items of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Gains and losses resulting from sales to a joint operation are 
recognised to the extent of the other parties' interests. When 
the Group makes purchases from a joint operation, it does not 
recognise its share of the gains and losses from the joint 
arrangement until it resells those goods/assets to a third party. 

(l) Operating cycle 

The operating cycle of the entity coincides with the annual 
reporting cycle. 

(m) Payables 

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised 
when the entity becomes obliged to make future payments 
resulting from the purchase of goods and services. 

(n) Foreign currency translation 

Functional and presentation currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Australian Dollars, which is Critical Metals Ltd’s functional and 
presentation currency. 

Transactions and balance 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the 
functional currency (Australian Dollars (AUD), Swedish Krona 
(SEK) and Euro (EUR)) by applying the exchange rates ruling at 
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate 
of exchange ruling at the reporting date. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 
determined. 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary 
items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception of 
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the 
Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are 
recognised in other comprehensive income until the net 
investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative 
amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits 
attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items 
are also recorded in other comprehensive income. 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 

28 | CRITICAL METALS LTD 2022 ANNUAL REPORT 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(n) Foreign currency translation (cont’d) 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is 
determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-
monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with 
the recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value of the item 
(i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or 
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or 
loss are also recognised in other comprehensive income or 
profit or loss, respectively). 

Group companies 
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations 
are translated into dollars at the rate of exchange prevailing at 
the reporting date and their statements of profit or loss are 
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation 
for consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of 
other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign 
operation is recognised in profit or loss. 

(o) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the 
assets, liabilities and results of the Company (the parent entity) 
and all of the subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities the parent 
controls. The parent controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. 

The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated into the financial statements of the Group from 
the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The 
consolidation of a subsidiary is discontinued from the date that 
control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains or losses on transactions between Group 
entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments 
made where necessary to ensure uniformity of the accounting 
policies adopted by the Group. 

Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or 
indirectly, to the Group are presented as “non-controlling 
interests". The Group initially recognises non-controlling 
interests that are present ownership interests in subsidiaries 
and are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary's net 
assets on liquidation at either fair value or at the non-controlling 
interests' proportionate share of the subsidiary's net assets. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, non-controlling interests are 
attributed their share of profit or loss and each component of 
other comprehensive income. Non-controlling interests are 
shown separately within the equity section of the statement of 
financial position and statement of comprehensive income. 

 

 

(p) Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. 

Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment. Depreciation 
is calculated on a straight line or diminishing value basis so as 
to write off the net cost or other revalued amount of each asset 
over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation 
method is reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable 
assets are: 

Class of fixed asset Depreciation rate (%) 

Office furniture 10.00 – 20.00 

Office equipment 7.50 – 66.67 

(q) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, 
and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of 
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured 
using the cashflows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those cashflows. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle 
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can 
be measured reliably. 

(r) Leases 

At inception of a contract the Group assesses if the contract 
contains or is a lease. If there is a lease present, a right-of-use 
asset and a corresponding liability are recognised by the Group 
where the Group is a lessee. However, all contracts that are 
classified as short-term leases (i.e. leases with a remaining 
lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets 
are recognised as an operating expense on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease.  

Initially, the lease liability is measured at the present value of 
the lease payments still to be paid at the commencement date. 
The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit 
in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group 
uses incremental borrowing rate. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(r) Leases (cont’d) 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease 
liability are as follows: 

 fixed lease payments less any lease incentives; 
 variable lease payments that depend on index or rate, 

initially measured using the index or rate at the 
commencement date; 

 the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under 
residual value guarantees; 

 the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is 
reasonably certain to exercise the options; 

 lease payments under extension options, if the lessee is 
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and  

 payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the 
lease term reflects the exercise of options to terminate 
the lease. 

The right-of-use asses comprise the initial measurement of the 
corresponding lease liability, any lease payments made at or 
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs. 
The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets is at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or 
useful life of the underlying asset, whichever is the shortest. 

Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or 
the costs of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group 
anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is 
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. 

(s) Revenue recognition 

Dividend and interest revenue 
Dividend revenue is recognised on a receivable basis. Interest 
revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes 
into account the effective yield on the financial asset. 

(t) Share–based payments 

Equity–settled share–based payments are measured at fair 
value at the date of grant. Fair value is measured by use of the 
Black and Scholes model or binomial model. The expected life 
used in the model has been adjusted, based on 
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non–
transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural 
considerations. 

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity–
settled share–based payments is expensed on a straight–line 
basis over the vesting period, based on the entity’s estimate of 
shares that will eventually vest. 

For cash–settled share–based payments, a liability equal to the 
portion of the goods or services received is recognised at the 
current fair value determined at each reporting date. 

 

 

(u) Fair value measurement 

The Group measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair 
value on either a recurring or non-recurring basis, depending on 
the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard. 

Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset 
or would have to pay to transfer a liability in an orderly (i.e. 
unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable 
and willing market participants at the measurement date. 

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent 
observable market pricing information is used to determine fair 
value. Adjustments to market values may be made having 
regard to the characteristics of the specific asset or liability. The 
fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active 
market are determined using one or more valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the 
extent possible, the use of observable market data. 

To the extent possible, market information is extracted from 
either the principal market for the asset or liability (i.e. the 
market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the 
asset or liability) or, in the absence of such a market, the most 
advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the 
reporting period (i.e. the market that maximises the receipts 
from the sale of the asset or minimises the payments made to 
transfer the liability, after taking into account transaction costs 
and transport costs). 

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes 
into account a market participant's ability to use the asset in its 
highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant 
that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The fair value of liabilities and the entity's own equity 
instruments (excluding those related to share-based payment 
arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable 
market price in relation to the transfer of such financial 
instruments, by reference to observable market information 
where such instruments are held as assets. Where this 
information is not available, other valuation techniques are 
adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective 
note to the financial statements. 

 Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and 
other relevant information generated by market 
transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

 Income approach: valuation techniques that convert 
estimated future cash flows or income and expenses into 
a single discounted present value. 

 Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the 
current replacement cost of an asset at its current service 
capacity. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(u) Fair value measurement (cont’d) 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the 
assumptions that buyers and sellers would use when pricing 
the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When 
selecting a valuation technique, the Group gives priority to 
those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs 
and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are 
developed using market data (such as publicly available 
information on actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions 
that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the 
asset or liability are considered observable, whereas inputs for 
which market data is not available and therefore are developed 
using the best information available about such assumptions 
are considered unobservable. 

Fair value hierarchy 
AASB 13 requires the disclosure of fair value information by 
level of the fair value hierarchy, which categorises fair value 
measurements into one of three possible levels based on the 
lowest level that an input that is significant to the measurement 
can be categorised into as follows: 

Level 1: Measurements based on quoted prices 
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date. 

Level 2: Measurements based on inputs other than 
quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly 

Level 3: Measurements based on unobservable inputs for 
the asset or liability. 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an 
active market are determined using one or more valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the 
extent possible, the use of observable market data. If all 
significant inputs required to measure fair value are observable, 
the asset or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more 
significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the 
asset or liability is included in Level 3. 

 

 

(u) Fair value measurement (cont’d) 

The Group would change the categorisation within the fair 
value hierarchy only in the following circumstances: 

(i) if a market that was previously considered active (Level 1) 
became inactive (Level 2 or Level 3) or vice versa; or 

(ii) if significant inputs that were previously unobservable 
(Level 3) became observable (Level 2) or vice versa. 

When a change in the categorisation occurs, the Group 
recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy 
(i.e. transfers into and out of each level of the fair value 
hierarchy) on the date the event or change in circumstances 
occurred. 

(v) Segment reporting policy 

Operating segments are identified and segment information 
disclosed on the basis of internal reports that are regularly 
provided to, or reviewed by the Group’s chief operating 
decision maker which, for the Group, is the Board of Directors. 
In this regard, such information is provided using similar 
measures to those used in preparing the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income and statement of 
financial position. 

(w) Assets classified as held for sale 

Assets held for sale and disposal groups are presented 
separately in the current section of statement of financial 
position when the following criteria is met: the group is 
committed to selling the asset or disposal group, an active plan 
of sale has commenced, and in the judgement of Group 
management it is highly probable that the sale will be 
completed within 12 months. Immediately before the initial 
classification of the assets and disposal groups as held for sale, 
the carrying amounts of the assets (or all the assets and 
liabilities in the disposal groups) are measured in accordance 
with the applicable accounting policy. Assets held for sale and 
disposal groups are subsequently measured at the lower of 
their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Assets 
held for sale are no longer amortised or depreciated. 
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, management is required to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods. 

The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets 
and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 

Key judgements — exploration and evaluation expenditure 

The future recoverability of exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised on the acquisition of areas of interest and/or capitalised JORC 
compliant mineral resource expenditure are dependent on a number of factors, including whether the Group decides to exploit the related 
lease itself or, if not, whether it successfully recovers the related exploration and evaluation asset through sale. To the extent that 
capitalised acquisition costs and/or capitalised JORC compliant mineral resource expenditure are determined not to be recoverable in the 
future, profits and net assets will be reduced in the period in which this determination is made. 

Key estimates – impairment 

The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group that may lead to impairment of 
assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined taking into consideration the assessment 
of the global market and with the decrease in valuations being attributed to exploration and mining companies. The Board did not impair 
any expenditure in line with the current transactions of the Group as at 30 June 2022. Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure 
incurred may either be expensed immediately to the profit and loss or be accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. 

Key judgments — Share-Based Payments 

Equity-settled share-based payments granted are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value of share options is measured 
by use of the Black-Scholes model and requires substantial judgement. Management has made its best estimate for the effects of non-
transferability, exercise restrictions (including the probability of meeting market conditions attached to the option), and behavioural 
considerations 

Key judgments — asset held for sale 

The Company sold its Pahtohavare project to Lovisagruvan AB post year end. Therefore the assets and liabilities related to the project are 
classified as asset held for sale. The Directors considered the asset met the criteria to be classified as held for sale at 30 June 2022 for the 
following reasons: 

 the asset was available for immediate sale and could be sold in its current condition; 
 the actions to complete the asset sale were initiated and completed within one year; and 
 the completion of the sale was completed on 19 July 2022. 

Refer to note 10 for further details on the asset held for sale. 

  2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

4. Loss from operations 
  

 (a) Interest   

 Bank 90 175 

 (b) Other income   

 Other – 158 

 (c) Employee benefit expense includes:   

 Salaries and wages 447,918 373,837 

 Post employment benefits:   

 Defined contribution plans 4,914 4,589 

  452,832 378,426 
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  2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

5. Income taxes 
  

 Income tax recognised in profit or loss   

 Tax benefit/(expense) comprises:   

 Current tax expense – – 

 
Deferred tax expense relating to the origination and reversal of temporary 
differences – – 

 Total tax benefit – – 

    

 
The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting loss from operations 
reconciles to the income tax expense in the financial statements as follows:   

 Loss from operations (2,102,768) (1,489,796) 

 Income tax expense calculated at 25.0% (2021: 26.0%) (525,692) (387,347) 

 Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 44,758 46,490 

 Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable loss 94,676 47,563 

 Effect of FCTR expensed to P&L (Swedish entities) – – 

 Effect of net deferred tax asset/(liability) not recognised:   

 
Tax losses and temporary differences not recognised as deferred tax 
assets/(liabilities) 

443,381 332,887 

 Change in recognised deductible temporary differences (57,123) (39,593) 

 Income tax benefit – – 

 
The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 27.5% 
payable by Australian corporate entities on taxable profits under Australian tax law.   

 Unrecognised deferred tax balances   

 The following deferred tax assets and (liabilities) have not been brought to account:   

 Tax losses – revenue 5,906,832 5,844,270 

 Net temporary differences 129,175 175,730 

 Income tax benefit 6,036,007 6,020,000 

    

 Tax consolidation   

 Relevance of tax consolidation to the Group   

 

Legislation to allow groups, comprising a parent entity and its Australian resident
wholly owned entities, to elect to consolidate and be treated as a single entity for
income tax purposes was substantively enacted on 21 October 2002. The Company
and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries have implemented the tax
consolidation legislation.   
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6. Key management personnel disclosures 
  

 (a) Details of key management personnel   

 

The Directors and Executives of Critical Metals Ltd during the year were: 

Directors 
 Damian Hicks (Executive)  Kris Gram (Non-Executive) 

 Jonathan Murray (Non-Executive)  Olof Forslund (resigned on 9 February 2022) 

 Markus Bachmann (Non-Executive)  Darren Townsend (resigned on 30 May 2022) 

 (b) Key management personnel compensation   

 
The aggregate compensation made to key management personnel of the Group is set out below. Detailed compensation of
each member of the key management personnel of the Group is set out on pages 8 to 11 of the Remuneration Report. 

  2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

 Short-term employee benefits 387,500 315,425 

 Post-employment benefits – – 

 Other benefits 279,827 169,514 

  667,327 484,939 

    
7. Share based payments 

  

 

The Company has an ownership based compensation arrangement for directors, employees and consultants of the Group. 

Each option issued under the arrangement converts into one ordinary share on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient 
on receipt of the option. Options neither carry rights to dividends nor voting rights. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of 
vesting to the date of their expiry. The number of options granted is at the sole discretion of the Directors. 

Incentive options issued to Directors (executive and non–executive) are subject to approval by shareholders and attach vesting conditions
as appropriate. Details of options over ordinary shares in the Company provided as remuneration to each Director during the year are set 
out on pages 8 to 11 of the Remuneration Report. 

The following share–based payment arrangements were in existence during the current and comparative reporting periods: 

 Option series Number Grant date Expiry date Exercise price 

 ESOP20 6,500,000 26 Nov 2019 26 Nov 2023 $0.30 

 ESOP21 3,020,000 8 Oct 2020 7 Oct 2024 $0.40 

 OP05 2,650,000 7 Oct 2021 6 Oct 2025 (i) 

 OP06 2,650,000 7 Oct 2021 6 Oct 2025 (ii) 

 OP07 2,150,000 7 Oct 2021 6 Oct 2025 (iii) 

 The following unlisted options were issued during the year and are share–based payment to key management personnel and employees.

 Option series Number Grant date Expiry date Exercise price 

 OP05 2,650,000 7 Oct 2021 6 Oct 2025 (i) 

 OP06 2,650,000 7 Oct 2021 6 Oct 2025 (ii) 

 OP07 2,150,000 7 Oct 2021 6 Oct 2025 (iii) 

 

(i) The higher of $0.60 each and the price that is 50% above the issue price of Shares in the first equity capital raising conducted by the Company following the issue of
the options (Capital Raising Price). 

(ii) The higher of $0.70 each and the price that is 75% above the Capital Raising Price. 
(iii) The higher of $0.80 each and the price that is 100% above the Capital Raising Price. 
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7. Share based payments (cont’d) 

 Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions   
  2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

 Options issued to directors 269,356 169,514 

 Options issued to non-employees 43,277 13,320 

 Options issued to employees 6,183 – 

  318,816 182,834 

    

 Options   

 The following table summarise the share options during the year.   

 
Grant  
date 

Expiry  
date 

Exercise  
price 

Balance at  
1 Jul Granted Exercised Forfeited 

Balance at 
30 June 

Vested and 
exercisable at 

30 June 

 2022         

 26 Nov 19 26 Nov 23 $0.30 6,500,000 – – – 6,500,000 3,000,000 

 8 Oct 20 7 Oct 24 $0.40 3,020,000 – – – 3,020,000 8,210,000 

 7 Oct 21 6 Oct 25 (i) – 2,650,000 – – 2,650,000 – 

 7 Oct 21 6 Oct 25 (ii) – 2,650,000 – – 2,650,000 – 

 7 Oct 21 6 Oct 25 (iii) – 2,150,000 – – 2,150,000 – 

 Total   9,520,000 7,450,000 – – 16,970,000 11,210,000 

 Weighted average exercise price $0.33 $0.69 – – $0.49 $0.37

 2021         

 26 Nov 19 26 Nov 23 $0.30 6,500,000 – – – 6,500,000 6,500,000 

 16 Apr 20 30 Apr 24 $0.40 1,000,000 – (1,000,000) – – – 

 8 Oct 20 7 Oct 24 $0.40 3,020,000 – – – 3,020,000 3,020,000 

 Total   10,520,000 – (1,000,000) – 9,520,000 9,520,000 

 Weighted average exercise price $0.33 – $0.40 – $0.33 $0.33

 

(i) The higher of $0.60 each and the price that is 50% above the issue price of Shares in the first equity capital raising conducted by the Company following the issue of 
the options (Capital Raising Price). 

(ii) The higher of $0.70 each and the price that is 75% above the Capital Raising Price. 
(iii) The higher of $0.80 each and the price that is 100% above the Capital Raising Price. 

 The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 2.38 years (2021: 2.74 years).

 (i) Issued during the financial year 

 

A total of 7,450,000 options (2021: 3,020,000) were issued to senior executive, employees, and consultants during the year. 

For the options granted during the current financial year, the valuation model inputs used to determine the fair value at the grant
date with Black-Scholes, are as follows: 

  Grant date Expiry date 
Share price at 

grant date Exercise price
Expected 

volatility Dividend yield
Risk-free 

interest rate 
Fair value at 

grant date

  7 Oct 2021 6 Oct 2025 $0.40 (i) 48.47% Nil 0.35% $0.102

  7 Oct 2021 6 Oct 2025 $0.40 (ii) 48.47% Nil 0.35% $0.086

  7 Oct 2021 6 Oct 2025 $0.40 (iii) 48.47% Nil 0.35% $0.073
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  2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

8. Remuneration of auditors 
  

 Audit or review of the financial report   

 Stantons  14,528 11,000 

 Audit or review of subsidiaries' accounts   

 Bright Norland Sweden 7,876 3,100 

  22,404 14,100 

 The auditor of the Group is Stantons.   

 
The auditor of the subsidiary Critical Metals Scandinavia AB is Bright Norland AB, 
Sweden.   

    
9. Current trade and other receivables 

  

 Trade receivables (i) 6,339 51,703 

 Net goods and services tax (GST) receivable 46,200 9,413 

 Other 22,370 13,007 

  74,909 74,123 

 

(i) The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 days. No interest is charged on 
the trade payables for the first 30 to 60 days from the date of invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged 
at various penalty rates. The consolidated entity has financial risk management policies in place to 
ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.   

    
10. Assets classified as held for sale 

  

 

During the year end, the Company agreed to sell its Pahtohavare project. At the 
reporting date, the transaction was not completed, so the assets related to
Pahtohavare were reclassified as held for sale. Subsequent to year end on 
19 July 2022, the sale was completed. Refer to notes 24 and 27 for further details.   

 Asset   

 Deferred exploration and evaluation expenditure 261,602 – 

 Assets classified as held for sale 261,602 – 

 Liabilities   

 Loan(i) 212,422 – 

 Liabilities directly associated with asset classified as held for sale 212,422 – 

 Net assets held for sale 49,180 – 

 (i) On 19 July 2022, the Company sold its interest in Pahtohavare to the joint venture partner, Lovisagruvan AB (LOVI). Refer to note 24 for further details. 
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11. Property, plant and equipment 
  

  
Equipment 

at cost Total 

  $ $ 

 Gross carrying amount   

 Balance at 1 July 2020 19,649 19,649 

 Additions 2,963 2,963 

 Write off (4,626) (4,626) 

 Exchange difference 66 66 

 Balance at 30 June 2021 18,052 18,052 

 Exchange difference (1,643) (1,643) 

 Balance at 30 June 2022 16,409 16,409 

    

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment   

 Balance at 1 July 2020 19,649 19,649 

 Write off (4,494) (4,494) 

 Depreciation expense 248 248 

 Exchange difference (67) (67) 

 Balance at 30 June 2021 15,336 15,336 

 Depreciation expense 991 991 

 Exchange difference (1,489) (1,489) 

 Balance at 30 June 2022 14,838 14,838 

    

 Net book value   

 As at 30 June 2021 2,716 2,716 

 As at 30 June 2022 1,571 1,571 

   
  2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
12. Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 

  

 Balance at beginning of financial period 363,043 359,216 

 Exploration expenditure during the period 6,176 5,056 

 Transferred to assets classified as held for sale (i) (261,602) – 

 Foreign currency translation movement during the period (33,623) (1,229) 

  73,994 363,043 

 (i) Refer to note 10 for further details.   
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  2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

13. Current trade and other payables 
  

 Trade payables (i) 499,411 215,574 

 Accruals (ii) 496,661 797,478 

 Other payables 210 2,481 

  996,282 1,015,533 

 

(i) The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 days. No interest is charged on 
the trade payables for the first 30 to 60 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, interest is 
charged at various penalty rates. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure 
that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe. 

(ii) Mr Damian Hicks’ total deferred salary entitlement from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 of $275,000 
and the Non-Executive Directors’ fee entitlement from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 of $112,500 are 
included in the amount.   

    
14. Provisions 

  

 Current   

 Employee benefits 8,204 8,582 

  8,204 8,582 

    

  Employee benefits Total 

  $ $ 

 Balance at 1 July 2020 8,080 8,080 

 Increase in provision 3,864 3,864 

 Utilised during the year (3,335) (3,335) 

 Exchange differences (27) (27) 

 Balance at 30 June 2021 8,582 8,582 

 Increase in provision 4,467 4,467 

 Utilised during the year (4,064) (4,064) 

 Exchange differences (781) (781) 

 Balance at 30 June 2022 8,204 8,204 

    
  2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
15. Borrowing 

  

 Current   

 Loans from related party entities includes interest payable (i) 1,111,424 – 

  1,111,424 – 

 
(i) The loans were provided by Corporate Board Services Pty Ltd, Hannans Ltd, Murray Trust Account No 2, Equity & Royalty Investments Ltd, and Clive Street Pty Ltd. 

Refer to note 26(c) for further details. 

  



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 

38 | CRITICAL METALS LTD 2022 ANNUAL REPORT 

  2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

16. Leases 
  

 Right-of-use asset   

 Non-current 106,195 – 

  106,195 – 

    

  
Land lease 

$ 
Total 

$ 

 Balance at 1 July 2021 – – 

 Additions 127,434 127,434 

 Depreciation expense (22,364) (22,364) 

 Exchange difference 1,125 1,125 

 Balance at 30 June 2022 106,195 106,195 

    
  2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

 Lease liability   

 Current 25,851 – 

 Non-current 59,690 – 

  85,541 – 

 Amounts recognised in profit or loss  – 

 Depreciation expense on right-of-use asset 22,364  

 Interest expense on lease liabilities 4,192 – 

  26,556 – 

    
17. Other financial liabilities 

  

 Current   

 Payroll related liabilities 2,052 2,221 

 Loans (i) – 233,693 

  2,052 235,914 

    

 Non-current   

 Royalty (ii) 1 1 

  1 1 

 

(i) On 24 November 2015 the Company announced that the joint venture partner, Lovisagruvan AB (LOVI) had formally notified the Company of its decision to proceed 
to Stage 2 of the Pahtohavare joint venture. As part of their Stage 2 commitment LOVI agreed to provide the Company with a SEK 3 million (equivalent to AUD 
219,588 as at 30 June 2016) interest free working capital facility which can only be drawn down in two equal instalments. Each instalment must be repaid within 12 
months from the drawdown date. 

The Company received the first loan instalment of SEK 1.5 million (equivalent to AUD 231,287) on 29 January 2016 repayable within one (1) year. No further drawdown 
was made. KIAB and LOVI have amended the joint venture agreement in so far as the parties have agreed to a standstill on both repayment of the loan and the due 
date for lodgement of the exploitation concession application.  

On 19 July 2022 the Company sold its interest in Pahtohavare to LOVI and the loan was reclassified as assets classified as held for sale. Refer to notes 10 and 27 for 
further details. 

(ii) On 18 July 2008, the Group entered into an agreement with Equity and Royalty Investments Ltd to pay a 1% gross royalty from future production from mineral assets 
excluding iron ore minerals owned or controlled by the Group in either Sweden, Norway, or Finland. 
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  2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

18. Issued capital 
  

 40,940,527 fully paid ordinary shares (2021: 39,321,246) 5,054,972 4,407,260 

  5,054,972 4,407,260 

    

  2022 2021 

  No. $ No. $ 

 Fully paid ordinary shares     

 Balance at beginning of financial period 39,321,246 4,407,260 35,902,500 3,267,572 

 Issue of shares (i) – – 1,518,746 379,688 

 Issue of shares (ii) – – 1,000,000 400,000 

 Issue of shares (iii) – – 900,000 360,000 

 Issue of shares (iv) 1,619,281 647,712 – – 

 Share issue costs – – – – 

 Balance at end of financial period 40,940,527 5,054,972 39,321,246 4,407,260 

 Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends. 

 

(i) In October 2020, a total of 1,518,746 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.25 per share were issued in lieu of outstanding directors’ fees. 

(ii) In February 2021, a total of 1,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.40 per share were issued as exercise of options to raise $400,000. 

(iii) In April 2021, a total of 900,000 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.40 per share were issued to raise $360,000. 

(iv) In October 2021, a total of 1,619,281 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.40 per share were issued in lieu of outstanding directors’ and consultants fees. 

  
  2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
19. Reserves 

  

 Comprising:   

 Option reserve 887,801 568,985 

 Foreign currency translation reserve 15,958 8,798 

  903,759 577,783 

 Movement in option reserve:   

 Balance at beginning of financial period 568,985 425,686 

 Share based payment expense 318,816 182,834 

 Exercise/Lapse of options – (39,535) 

 Balance at end of financial year 887,801 568,985 

    

 Movement in foreign currency translation reserve   

 Balance at beginning of financial period 8,798 13,610 

 Foreign currency translation reserve movement during the period 7,160 (4,812) 

 Balance at end of financial year 15,958 8,798 
  



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 

40 | CRITICAL METALS LTD 2022 ANNUAL REPORT 

19. Reserves (cont’d) 

 Nature and purpose of reserves 

Option reserve 

The option reserve recognises the fair value of options issued and valued using the Black-Scholes model. 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign subsidiaries. 

 Share options 

As at 30 June 2022, options over 16,970,000 (2021: 9,520,000) ordinary shares in aggregate are as follow. 

 
Issuing entity 

No of shares  
under option Class of shares 

Exercise price 
of option 

Expiry date 
of options 

 Critical Metals Ltd 6,500,000 Ordinary 30 cents each 26 November 2023 

 Critical Metals Ltd 3,020,000 Ordinary 40 cents each 7 October 2024 

 Critical Metals Ltd 2,650,000 Ordinary (i) 6 October 2025 

 Critical Metals Ltd 2,650,000 Ordinary (ii) 6 October 2025 

 Critical Metals Ltd 2,150,000 Ordinary (iii) 6 October 2025 

 

(i) The higher of $0.60 each and the price that is 50% above the issue price of Shares in the first equity capital raising conducted by the Company following the issue of
the options (Capital Raising Price). 

(ii) The higher of $0.70 each and the price that is 75% above the Capital Raising Price. 
(iii) The higher of $0.80 each and the price that is 100% above the Capital Raising Price. 

 Share options are all unlisted, carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. No options were exercised during the year. 

  
  2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 
20. Accumulated losses 

  

 Balance at beginning of year (5,411,836) (3,961,575) 

 Loss attributable to members of the parent entity (2,102,768) (1,489,796) 

 Items of other comprehensive income recognised directly in retained earnings   

 Exercise/Lapsed of options  – 39,535 

 Balance at end of financial period (7,514,604) (5,411,836) 

    
21. Loss per share 

  
  2022 

Cents per share 
2021 

Cents per share 

 Basic loss per share:   

 From continuing operations (5.19) (3.98) 

 Total basic loss per share (5.19) (3.98) 

 Basic loss per share 

 The loss and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic loss per share are as follows: 

  
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

 Loss for the period (2,102,768) (1,489,796) 

  
2022 

No. 
2021 

No. 

 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic loss per 
share 40,505,760 37,429,380 
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22. Segment reporting 

 

The Group operates predominantly in the Swedish and Finland mineral exploration and vanadium recovery industry. For management 
purposes, the Group is organised into one main operating segment which involves the operations in Australia and Scandinavia. All of the 
Group’s activities are interrelated and discrete financial information is reported to the Board (Chief Operating Decision Maker) as a single 
segment. Accordingly, all significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the Group as one segment. The financial results from 
this segment are equivalent to the financial statements of the Group as a whole. 

 Revenue analysis by geographic area   

  Total revenue 

  
2022 

$ 
2021 

$ 

 Australia 90 175 

 Scandinavia – 158 

  90 333 

 Result analysis by geographic area   

 Australia (1,138,525) (640,608) 

 Scandinavia (964,243) (849,188) 

 Loss before income tax benefit (2,102,768) (1,489,796) 

 Income tax benefit – – 

 Loss for the period (2,102,768) (1,489,796) 

 Assets and liabilities analysis by geographic area   

  2022 2021 

  
Assets 

$ 
Liabilities 

$ 
Assets 

$ 
Liabilities 

$ 

 Australia 88,762 1,802,878 258,335 692,059 

 Scandinavia 771,291 613,048 574,902 567,971 

  860,053 2,415,926 833,237 1,260,030 

  
23. Commitments for expenditure 

 

In Sweden and Finland, an exploration permit is valid for a period of three years from date of issue and following that may be extended 
for another maximum three year period if it can be shown suitable exploration has been carried out within the area. There are no minimum 
exploration commitments required to be spent on the permits, apart from permit renewal fees, by the Swedish and Finland authorities 
respectively. 

In April 2020 Critical Metals secured a conditional contract to purchase 200,000T of slag products for 10 years from Scandinavian steel 
producer SSAB, and a co-operation agreement with specialty metals company Neometals Ltd to process the slag to recover vanadium. 
Critical Metals is being carried by Neometals on the funding of all studies and test work. Critical Metals is responsible for delivering a 
location study, permitting, managing in-country matters, and the relationship with SSAB. For detailed information please refer to the 
Review of Operations. 
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24. Contingent liabilities 

 

(i) On 18 July 2008, the Group entered into an agreement with Equity and Royalty Investments Ltd to pay a 1% gross royalty from 
future production from mineral assets owned or controlled by the Group in either Sweden, Norway or Finland. 

On 27 March 2015 Kiruna Iron AB (KIAB) (wholly owned subsidiary of Critical Metals Ltd) announced a joint venture with 
Lovisagruvan AB (LOVI) (a Swedish mining company) over its Pahtohavare Copper-Gold Project, located near Kiruna, northern 
Sweden. LOVI made a payment of SEK 1 million, completed drilling and metallurgical test work and received a 20% interest in the 
permits comprising the Pahtohavare project (Stage 1 Earn In).  

On 24 November 2015 KIAB and LOVI amended the joint venture terms such that LOVI was granted an additional 15% interest in 
the Pahtohavare project on the basis that it would lodge an exploitation concession application for Pahtohavare by the end of 
November 2016 and provide an interest free working capital facility of SEK 3 million (Stage 2 Earn in). LOVI had the option to earn up 
to a total of 75% interest in Pahtohavare by funding all the costs required to have both an exploitation concession and an 
environmental permit granted by the Swedish State and by delivering a bankable feasibility statement.  

On 29 January 2016 KIAB drew down SEK 1.5 million of the working capital facility.  

In 2019 as part of a corporate restructure, the joint venture agreement was transferred to from KIAB to Critical Metals Scandinavia 
AB (CMSAB) (wholly owned subsidiary of Critical Metals Ltd).  

On 19 July 2022, CMSAB sold its interest in Pahtohavare to LOVI. Refer to notes 10 and 27 for further details. 

(ii) On 5 April 2020, Critical Metals Ltd entered into a Co-operation Agreement with Neometals Ltd and a Slag Recycling Facility with 
Swedish Steel AB. As part of the agreement, the Company is responsible for funding and conducting the Environmental Permitting, 
Building Permitting and Chemical Permitting for the Vanadium Recovery Project. 

(iii) The Company entered into an agreement with ACN 630 589 507 Pty Ltd (ACN 630), a wholly owned subsidiary of Neometals Ltd 
on 8 March 2019. ACN has developed a proprietary technology to safely recover several metals from spent and off-specification 
lithium-ion batteries (Technology). ACN 630 granted the Company an exclusive licence (Technology Licence) to commercialise the 
Technology in Sweden, Norway, Denmark, and Finland (Territory), for an initial term of 25 years from the date of the agreement 
(Licence Agreement). The Licence enables the Group to commercialise the Technology within the Territory and derive revenue from 
the sale of recovered nickel, cobalt, lithium, copper, iron, aluminium, manganese recovered from off-specification and end-of-life 
batteries. ACN 630 may terminate the Licence Agreement if the Company does not meet any of the following performance hurdles 
by the specified date.  

On 9 September 2021, the Company executed a Memorandum of Understanding with Hannans Ltd (Hannans) to commercialise 
the Licence. It is proposed that, subject to funding certain commercialisation activities and making certain decisions within agreed 
timeframes, Hannans will be entitled to a 50% equity interest in each lithium-ion battery recycling plant developed by Hannans and 
the Company. 

  
25. Subsidiary 

 

Name of entity 
Country of 

incorporation 

Ownership Interest 

 
2022 

% 
2021 

% 

 Parent entity:    

 Critical Metals Ltd (i) Australia   

 Subsidiary:    

 Scandinavian Resources Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

 Lib Recycling Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

 Critical Metals Scandinavia AB (iii) Sweden 100 100 

 Kiruna Iron AB (iii) Sweden 100 100 

 Recycling Industries Scandinavia AB (iii) Sweden 100 100 

 CMS Group Scandinavia AB (iv) Sweden 100 100 

 Vanadium Recovery Project Oy (iv) Finland 100 0 

 Critical Metals Scandinavia AB Filial i Finland (v) Finland 0 100 

 (i) Critical Metals Ltd is the ultimate parent entity. All the companies are members of the group.  
(ii) The 100% interest in Scandinavian Resources Pty Ltd and LiB Recycling Pty Ltd are held by the parent entity. 
(iii) The 100% interest in Critical Metals Scandinavia AB, Kiruna Iron AB and Recycling Industries Scandinavia AB are held via Scandinavian Resources Pty Ltd.  
(iv) The 100% interest in CMS Group Scandinavia AB and Vanadium Recovery Project Oy incorporated on 3 November 2021 are held via  

Recycling Industries Scandinavia AB. 
(v) Critical Metals Scandinavia AB Filial i Finland is a branch of Critical Metals Scandinavia AB in Finland. The branch was deregistered on 8 June 2022. 
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26. Related party disclosures 

 (a) Equity interests in related parties 

 

Equity interests in subsidiary 
Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiary is disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements. 

 (b) Key management personnel (KMP) remuneration 

 Details of KMP remuneration are disclosed in pages 8 to 11, and note 6 to the financial statements. 

 (c) Loans to and from key management personnel and their related parties 

 
Details regarding the aggregate of loans made, guaranteed or secured by an entity in the Group to key management personnel
and their related parties, and the number of individuals in each group, are as follows:  

  
Opening balance 

$ 
Closing balance 

$ 
Interest charged 

$ 
Number 
in group 

 2022     

 Receivable     

 Total for KMP(i) – – – – 

 Total for other related parties  – – – – 

  – – – – 

 Borrowings     

 Total from KMP – – – – 

 Total from other related parties(ii) – 1,111,424 61,424 5 

  – 1,111,424 61,424 5 

 2021     

 Total for KMP – – – – 

 Total for other related parties – – – – 

  – – – – 

 (i) Subsequent to year end, the Company provided a loan facility of $120,000 to Mr Damian Hicks. Refer to note 27 for further details. 

 (ii) The borrowings consist of the following: 

  Lender Related party 
Balance at 

30 June 2022 Interest rate 
Repayment 

date Other material terms and conditions 

  
Corporate Board Services Pty Ltd D Hicks is a director $217,313 12.5% 30 Jun 2023 Loan facility was increased to $200,000 and 

repayment date extended to 30 June 2023. 

  
Hannans Ltd D Hicks, J Murray and  

M Bachmann are directors 
$217,212 12.5% 31 Dec 2023 Loan repayment date was extended to 

31 December 2023. 

  Murray Trust Account No 2 Spouse of J Murray $267,468 12.5% 31 Dec 2022 Negotiating extension of repayment date 

  
Equity & Royalty Investments Ltd D Hicks is a director $257,873 12.5% 31 Dec 2022 Loan repayment date was extended to 

31 December 2023. 

  Clive Street Pty Ltd J Murray is a director $151,558 12.5% 31 Dec 2022 Negotiating extension of repayment date 

  TOTAL  $1,111,424    

 (d) Transactions with other related parties 

 

Subsidiary 

All loans advanced to and payable to related parties are unsecured. No interest was charged on the outstanding intercompany
loan balances during the financial year. Critical Metals Ltd received interest of nil from loans to subsidiary, and paid interest of nil 
to subsidiary. 

Directors transactions 

Corporate Board Services Pty Ltd (CBS), of which Mr Damian Hicks is a director, provided financial and compliance services
amounting to $118,339 (2021: $71,643) to the Group during the year. At 30 June 2022 $134,067 was owed to CBS (2021:
$11,931).  

Steinepreis Paganin, of which Mr Jonathan Murray is a partner, provided legal services amounting to $62,994 (2021: $4,301) to 
the Group during the year. At 30 June 2022 $15,180 was owed to Steinepreis Paganin (2021: $2,063).  
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26. Related party disclosures (cont’d) 

 

Transaction with Hannans Ltd 

Mr Damian Hicks, Mr Jonathan Murray and Mr Markus Bachmann are Directors of Hannans Ltd (Hannans).  

Neometals Limited (ASX: NMT) (Neometals) is Critical Metal’s largest shareholder (19.05%). ACN 630 589 507 Pty Ltd (ACN 
630), a wholly owned subsidiary of Neometals, has developed a proprietary technology to safely recover several metals from 
spent and off-specification lithium-ion batteries (Technology). The Technology offers a unique and sustainable method for 
recovering valuable lithium, nickel, cobalt and other materials from off-specification and end-of-life electric vehicle and consumer 
electronic lithium-ion batteries. The Technology enables recovered metals to be refined and converted into a form that can be 
reused in the battery supply chain. The Technology has not been commercialised by Neometals or its partners thus far, but 
excellent progress is being made in that regard. The Company entered into an agreement with ACN 630 on 8 March 2019 
whereby ACN 630 granted the Group an exclusive licence (Technology Licence) to commercialise the Technology in Sweden, 
Norway, Denmark, and Finland (Territory), for an initial term of 25 years from the date of the agreement (Licence Agreement). 
The Licence enables the Group to commercialise the Technology within the Territory and derive revenue from the sale of 
recovered nickel, cobalt, lithium, copper, iron, aluminium, manganese recovered from off-specification and end-of-life batteries. 
ACN 630 may terminate the Licence Agreement if the Company does not meet any of the following performance hurdles by 
the specified date. 

On 9 September 2021, the Company executed a Memorandum of Understanding with the Hannans to commercialise the 
Licence. On 7 October 2021, shareholders approved the Company entering into an agreement with Hannans in connection with 
the Technology. Subject to funding certain commercialisation activities and making certain decisions within agreed timeframes, 
Hannans will be entitled to a 50% equity interest in each lithium-ion battery recycling plant developed by Hannans. The Company 
has the option to fund 50% of the capital and operating costs of each new recycling plant. If the cCompany choses not to fund, 
its interest in that recycling plant will be diluted. 

Hannans recharged for reimbursements on joint operating and travel expenses amounting to $10,850 (2021: nil) to the Group 
during the year. At 30 June 2022 $1,378 was owed to Hannans (2021: $2,474). 

The Company recharged Hannans for reimbursements on joint operating and travel expenses amounting to $8,884 (2021: 
$2,256) by the Group during the year. There was no amount owing by Hannans at 30 June 2022. 

 (e) Parent entity 

 The ultimate parent entity in the Group is Critical Metals Ltd. 

  
27. Subsequent events 

 The following matters or circumstances have arisen since 30 June 2022 that may significantly affect, the operations of the Company, 
the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years: 

(a) On 19 July 2022 the Group sold its 80% interest in Pahtohavare Project to Lovisagruvan AB (LOV) for SEK 3.5 million which
consists of SEK 2 million cash and loan forgiveness of SEK 1.5 million. The joint venture between the Group and LOVI was
concluded as part of the transaction. Refer to note 10 for more information. 

(b) On 25 July 2022 the Company provided a loan facility of $120,000 to Mr Damian Hicks, Executive Director at an interest rate of
4.6% per annum repayable after the Company pays accrued director fees, salary and bonus payments (if any) owing to Mr Hicks.

(c) On 13 October 2022, the repayment date for the loan with Hannans Ltd was extended to 31 December 2023. 

(d) On 26 October 2022, the repayment date for the loan with Equity & Royalty Investments Ltd was extended to 31 December 
2023. 
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  2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

28. Notes to the statement of cash flows 
  

 (a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents   

 For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in money 
market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash 
equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of 
cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the consolidated statement 
of financial position as follows: 

  

 Cash and cash at bank 341,782 393,355 

  341,782 393,355 

 (b) Reconciliation of loss for the year to net cash flows from operating activities   

 For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in money 
market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash 
equivalents at the end of the financial period as shown in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as follows: 

  

 Profit/(Loss) for the year (2,102,768) (1,489,796) 

 Equity settled loan payments 647,712 379,688 

 Equity settled share-based payments 318,816 182,834 

 Depreciation of non-current assets 991 248 

 Interest on loan from related party 61,424 – 

 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 22,364 – 

 Interest expense on lease liabilities 4,192 – 

 Foreign exchange differences 29,286 (4,253) 

 
Changes in net assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisition and 
disposal of businesses:   

 (Increase)/decrease in assets:   

 Trade and other receivables (786) (60,331) 

 Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:   

 Trade and other payables and provisions (41,069) 52,165 

  (1,059,838) (939,445) 

 (c) Non-cash financing and investing activities 

 During the current year, the Group did not enter into any non-cash investing and financing activities which are not reflected in 
the consolidated statement of cash flows. 
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29. Financial instruments 

 (a) Financial risk management objectives 

 

The Group manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group.  

The Group does not enter or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. The
use of financial derivatives is governed by the Company’s Board of Directors. 

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates, but at 30 June 2022 it is also exposed 
to market price risk. The Group does not enter into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate. 

 (b) Significant accounting policies 

 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement 
and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and
equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements. 

 (c) Foreign currency risk management 

 
The Group is not exposed to any significant currency risk on receivable, payable or borrowings. All loans are denominated in the
Group’s functional currency. 

 (d) Interest rate risk management 

 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as it places funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. The risk is managed by 
maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate products which also facilitate access to money. 

 

Maturity profile of financial instruments 

The following table details the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk. 

 

 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 

Fixed maturity dates   

 
Variable 

interest rate 

Less 

than 1 year 

1–5  

years 

5+  

Years 
Non interest 

bearing Total 

 % $ $ $ $ $ $ 

 2022        

 Financial assets:        

 Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% 10,192 – – – 331,590 341,782 

 Trade and other receivables  – – – – 74,909 74,909 

   10,192 – – – 406,499 416,691 

 Financial liabilities:        

 Trade and other payables 12.50% – 431,846 – – 564,435 996,281 

 Borrowings 12.50% – 1,111,424 – – – 1,111,424 

 Other financial liabilities  – – – – 2,052 2,052 

   – 1,543,270 – – 566,487 2,109,757 

 2021        

 Financial assets:        

 Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% 10,192 – – – 383,163 393,355 

 Trade and other receivables  – – – – 74,123 74,123 

   10,192 – – – 457,286 467,478 

 Financial liabilities:        

 Trade and other payables  – – – – 1,015,533 1,015,533 

 Other financial liabilities  – – – – 235,914 235,914 

   – – – – 1,251,447 1,251,447 
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29. Financial instruments (cont’d) 

 (e) Liquidity risk management 

 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

The following table details the Group’s non-derivative financial instruments according to their contractual maturities. The amounts
disclosed are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

 

 

 
Less than  
6 months 

6 months– 
12 months 

1–2  
years 

Greater than 
2 years Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

 2022       

 Trade and other payables  430,369 565,913 – – 996,282 

 Borrowings  2,052 – – – 2,052 

 Other financial liabilities  1,111,424 – – – 1,111,424 

   1,543,845 565,913 – – 2,109,758 

 2021       

 Trade and other payables  1,015,533 – – – 1,015,533 

 Other financial liabilities  235,914 – – – 235,914 

   1,251,447 – – – 1,251,447 

 (f) Credit risk 

 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, 
as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties
are continuously monitored. The Group measures credit risk on a fair value basis. 

The Group has credit risk exposure to a group of counterparties having similar characteristics which are the loans from related 
parties. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit–ratings assigned by 
international credit–rating agencies. 

It is a policy of the Group that creditors are paid within 30 days. 

 (g) Market price risk 

 

Market risk is the potential for loss arising from adverse movement in the level and volatility of equity prices. 

The group does not hold investments in listed securities. 
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30. Parent entity disclosures 

 
The following details information related to the parent entity, Critical Metals Ltd, at 30 June 2022. The information presented here has
been prepared using consistent accounting policies as presented in note 2. 

  2022 
$ 

2021 
$ 

 Results of the parent entity   

 Loss for the year (2,246,920) (1,413,560) 

 Other comprehensive income – – 

 Total comprehensive loss for the year (2,246,920) (1,413,560) 

    

 Financial position of parent entity at year end   

 Current assets 88,760 258,333 

 Non–current assets 2 2 

 Total assets 88,762 258,335 

    

 Current liabilities 1,802,877 692,057 

 Non–current liabilities – – 

 Total liabilities 1,802,877 692,057 

    

 Total equity of the parent entity comprising of:   

 Share capital 5,054,972 4,407,260 

 Reserves (353,688) (672,503) 

 Accumulated losses (6,415,399) (4,168,479) 

 Total equity (1,714,115) (433,722) 

 (a) Guarantees entered by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiary 

 
The parent entity had not entered into any guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiary as at 30 June 2022 other than 
disclosed in this financial report. 

 (b) Parent entity contingencies 

 The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2022 other than disclosed in this financial report. 

 (c) Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment by the parent entity 

 
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2022 other than disclosed in this 
financial report. 
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